

GRIEVANCE POLICY PROCEDURE For School Based Employees Adopted from CBC

2022-2023

Effective Date: November 2021 Last Reviewed: October 2022 Reviewed by: Karen Hayward (adopted from CBC) Next Review Date: October 2023

05/2018 - Grievance Policy and Procedure

Page 0

Central Bedfordshire

GRIEVANCE POLICY AND PROCEDURE For School Based Employees

CONTENTS

- 1. INTRODUCTION
- 2. SCOPE
- 3. PURPOSE
- 4. EXCEPTIONS
- 5. PRINCIPLES
- 6. MALICIOUS GRIEVANCES
- 7. DIGNITY AT WORK/BULLYING, HARASSMENT AND VICTIMISATION
- 8. MANAGERS AUTHORISED TO HEAR GRIEVANCES
- 9. RIGHT TO BE ACCOMPANIED
- 10. INFORMAL STAGE
- 11. FORMAL STAGE
- 12. GRIEVANCE INVESTIGATION
- 13 GRIEVANCE OUTCOMES
- 14. APPEAL MEETING
- 15. GENERAL POINTS ABOUT THE GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Appendix 1 – Employee Grievance Form Appendix 2 – Mediation Appendix 3 – Employee Grievance Appeal Form

Template Letters: 1 – Acknowledgment of written grievance 2 – Outcome of grievance meeting

- 3 Invite to grievance appeal hearing
- 4 Outcome of grievance appeal meeting

1. INTRODUCTION

- **1.1** It is Central Bedfordshire Council's policy to encourage free communication between its members of staff and its managers. If an employee has a grievance relating to their employment, they have a right to express it. Every effort will be made to deal with the grievance as quickly as possible, although some cases need time to be investigated fully and in the strictest confidence.
- **1.2** Most routine complaints and grievances are best resolved informally in discussion with the employee's immediate line manager or supervisor. Dealing with grievances in this way can often lead to the speedy resolution of problems. The Council hopes that the majority of concerns can be resolved at this stage.
- **1.3** Advice on application of this procedure should be sought from the school's HR Provider.

2. SCOPE

2.1 <u>General</u>

- **2.2** This procedure applies to all employees in Central Bedfordshire Council's maintained Community, Voluntary Controlled, Nursery and Special Schools.
- **2.3** This policy applies to all employees regardless of how long they have been employed, their contractual hours and contract type and will apply to both individual and group grievances.
- 2.4 The Grievance Policy should be used for work related issues, such as concerns relating to an employee's own employment, working environment or the application of terms and conditions, excluding pay (which will be dealt with by the model salary policy adopted by the Governing Body). It should also be used to address complaints about another employee's behaviour.
- **2.5** Grievances relating to direct discrimination (including associative and perceptive discrimination), indirect discrimination and discrimination arising from disability are included within the remit of the policy.
- **2.6** This policy provides a mechanism whereby individual employees can raise complaints about behaviour they experience, observe or perceive to be inappropriate, such as discrimination, bullying or harassment.

2.7 Application of the policy for Headteachers

2.7 The term employee includes Headteacher, to who this policy applies in full.

2.8 If a Headteacher wishes to raise a grievance, they are encouraged to attempt to resolve concerns informally through discussion with their Chair of Governors. If they are unable to resolve the grievance in this way, the Headteacher should write to the Chair of Governors, who will, in discussion with the school's HR Provider and a representative from Central Bedfordshire Council's Schools HR Statutory Services Team, agree a format for a formal procedure to enable a fair and transparent process to be followed in all cases.

3. PURPOSE

- **3.1** It is recognised that many matters which become the subject of formal grievance arise from simple misunderstandings. The purpose of the Council's grievance procedure is to:
 - Provide a mechanism for the complaints or concerns to be dealt with fairly, consistently and speedily before they develop into major problems;
 - Constructively resolve complaints raised and to avoid damaging relationships as a consequence of raising a grievance;
 - Promote sound employment practices;
 - Determine individual grievances as close to their source as possible;
 - Enable any employee to have his or her grievance heard by management and seek redress; and
 - Encourage a harmonious working environment.
- **3.2** No action will be taken or changes made in relation to the factors causing the grievance until it is resolved or all stages of the procedure are exhausted (i.e. "status quo" will remain until resolution or the procedure is exhausted).

4. EXCEPTIONS

- 4.1 The Grievance Procedure cannot normally be followed to address the following:
 - Personal disagreements between individuals not connected with their duties/roles within the school;
 - Issues which are the subject of other Council policies and procedures. These might include whistleblowing, officer/member protocol, fraud and corruption; discipline; and procedures amended by collective agreements;
 - Complaints relating to income tax, national insurance and pensions where resolution of the grievance is beyond the powers of the Council;
 - Pay/Gradings and assimilations/ring fencing where there are separate appeals procedures, unless there is a specific equality issue involved;
 - Organisational reviews where particular consultation requirements apply;
 - Restarting a grievance procedure where a grievance has been considered previously, unless the facts of the matter have substantially changed and at least six months have elapsed since the completion of that process.

5. PRINCIPLES

5.1 The Education Act (2011) gives responsibility to the governing body for the management of the school. The governing body, for example, has sole responsibility for recruitment, the promotion of staff, leave of absence, pay determination and employment procedures. It is for the governing body, therefore to ensure that a suitable Grievance Officer is appointed who will seek to resolve staff grievances in the formal stage. It is also for the governing body

to establish a committee of its own members which will seek to resolve staff grievances at the appeal stage, where necessary. The appeals committee should comprise a minimum of three governors.

- **5.2** A grievance cannot be referred beyond the governing body on matters involving its responsibilities. Similarly, a grievance cannot be referred beyond the Council in matters for which the Council is responsible.
- **5.3** Should allegations be made relating to the Safeguarding of Children or Vulnerable Adults, Central Bedfordshire Council's Allegations Manager should be informed immediately. No further action should be taken under the grievance procedure until the Allegations Manager has provided further advice.

5.4 The role of the Grievance Officer

An employee's Grievance Officer is the person who tries to resolve the employee's formal grievance. In most circumstances, this will be the Headteacher. However, if the grievance concerns the Headteacher, then another Grievance Officer will be appointed by the Chair of Governors (usually another Governor of the school).

- **5.5** Grievances are best resolved promptly and as near to the point of origin as possible. This is particularly important where the grievance relates to behaviour and there is a need to rebuild relationships. This policy actively encourages employees to raise issues and try to resolve them with their Line Manager (informally) and/or their Grievance Officer (formally) in the belief that the sooner these workplace concerns can be resolved, the quicker all parties will be able to resume normal working.
- **5.6** Headteachers and Governing Bodies are responsible for applying this procedure in a fair and equitable way. In addition, they are responsible for working with all parties to find a resolution that enables everyone to resume normal working as soon as possible.
- **5.7** Employees are expected to raise grievances without unreasonable delay and it is anticipated that grievances will be raised within 4 months of the relevant incident. Should an employee wish to raise a grievance outside of this time frame they should include evidence of any extenuating circumstances that have caused the delay when submitting their grievance.
- **5.8** Employees should submit formal grievances in writing and there is an Employee Grievance Form **(Appendix 1)** to aid this process. Please see paragraphs 11.1 to 11.5 for further guidance on written grievances.
- **5.9** The grievance procedure may not be able to proceed where it is apparent that the resolution sought is not within the School or Council's gift.
- **5.10** This procedure will be followed where a grievance is raised by an employee during their notice period, exit interview or in their letter of resignation.
- **5.11** A representative of the schools HR provider should be present at all formal hearings in order to advise management on policy and procedure.

- **5.12** The Snr HR Manager, Schools Statutory Services, must be informed of the submission of a formal grievance at the earliest opportunity. An officer of the HR Statutory Services team may attend any of the formal hearings where it is deemed necessary.
- **5.13** All parties involved in a grievance have a responsibility to attend meetings, provide honest and factual information, act with integrity, and treat each other with respect and maintain confidentiality.

6. MALICIOUS GRIEVANCES

Disciplinary action will be taken against any employee who makes a malicious grievance, or if they make allegations against somebody with the intention of causing that person harm or to more generally create disharmony or unrest in the workplace.

7. DIGNITY AT WORK/BULLYING, HARASSMENT AND VICTIMISATION

- **7.1** Central Bedfordshire Council is committed to promoting dignity and respect at work and will continue to develop and maintain a culture in which harassment and bullying are unacceptable and where employees are confident enough to raise grievances.
- **7.2** There is no legal definition to describe bullying however ACAS states that bullying may be characterised as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means intended to undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying may therefore be related to broader aspects of an individual's characteristics and interactions in the workplace. Employers should address bullying in the work place as part of their duty of care to employees.
- **7.3** The legal definition of harassment is unwanted conduct related to a relevant protected characteristic, which has the purpose or effect of violating an individual's dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for that individual. The word 'unwanted' means essentially the same as 'unwelcome' or 'uninvited'. 'Unwanted' does not mean that express objection must be made to the conduct before it is deemed to be unwanted. Unwanted conduct 'related to' a protected characteristic has a broad meaning in that the conduct does not have to be because of the protected characteristic. It includes the following situations:
 - Where conduct is related to the worker's own protected characteristic.
 - Where there is any connection with a protected characteristic
 - 7.4 Bullying and harassment may be persistent or an isolated incident.
 - 7.5 Examples include (list not exhaustive):
 - Physical contact which is unwanted
 - Jokes, offensive language, gossip, slanderous text messages or letters.
 - Isolation, non-co-operation and/or exclusion.
 - Unwelcome remarks about a person's age, dress, appearance, race, sexual orientation (including threats to 'out' someone), trans-status, marital or civil partnership status.
 - Personal insults or insulting someone by word or behaviour

- Shouting at staff
- Overbearing supervision or misuse of power
- Unwanted images or references on Social Networking and Internet Forums
- **7.6** Victimisation occurs when someone is treated badly because they have made or supported a complaint or raised a grievance under the Equality Act; or because they are suspected of doing so. The Act also includes a new and additional protection relating to disability. For example, bringing a complaint of discrimination or giving evidence or information on behalf of another employee who has brought proceedings for discrimination. Further guidance in relation to dealing with complaints of harassment is can be found by clicking <u>here</u>.
- **7.7** Victimisation may present in many ways. It may be that individuals are refused requests for time off, denied promotion or training, ignored by their manager or colleagues, criticised continually for their work, 'messed around' with respect to their work allocation or shift arrangement/days off and so on.
- **7.8** Direct discrimination occurs when someone is treated less favourably than another person because they have a protected characteristic.
- **7.9** Associative discrimination is direct discrimination against someone because they associate with another person who possesses a protected characteristic.
- **7.10** Perceptive discrimination is direct discrimination against an individual because others think they possess a particular protected characteristic. It applies even if the person does not actually possess that characteristic.
- **7.11** Indirect discrimination may occur if certain rules, conditions or practices apply to everyone, but place a particular disadvantage to those with a protected characteristic, unless these are objectively justified (i.e. if it can be shown that it is 'a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim'. Being proportionate means being fair and reasonable, including showing that 'less discriminatory' alternatives have been considered as part of the decision making process).
- **7.12** Discrimination arising from disability occurs when a disabled person is treated unfavourably because of something connected with their disability and the unfavourable treatment cannot be justified.
- **7.13** In the event that an employee wishes to make a formal complaint, the Council's grievance procedure will be implemented immediately and complaints will be investigated swiftly in an objective and sensitive manner. An experienced senior manager of the school should be appointed as the Grievance Officer to investigate any grievance relating to harassment.
- **7.9** If it has been proven through this procedure that bullying, harassment or victimisation has occurred, appropriate disciplinary action may be taken following the Council's disciplinary procedure.

7.10 If an employee makes an unfounded allegation of bullying or harassment for malicious reasons, this will be investigated and dealt with fairly and objectively under the Council's disciplinary procedure.

Stage	Meeting between employee and:	If the grievance involves this person, meeting will be with:
Informal Stage	Line Manager or Headteacher	Headteacher or Grievance Officer (informally)
Formal Grievance Meeting	Headteacher (acting as the Grievance Officer). In bigger schools this may be another member of the Leadership Team	Chair of Governors will nominate a single Governor to act as the Grievance Officer
Investigation carried out (if necessary) by	Investigation Officer (appointed by the Grievance Officer)	Not applicable
Appeal Meeting	Panel of three Governors	Not applicable

8. MANAGERS AUTHORISED TO HEAR GRIEVANCES

9. EMPLOYEE'S RIGHT TO BE ACCOMPANIED

- **9.1** Employees have the right to be accompanied at all stages of the formal procedure and may choose to bring a Companion for support to the informal meeting. The employee's Companion can be:
 - a work colleague;
 - a full time Trade Union Official; or
 - an accredited Trade Union Representative.
- **9.2** The role of the Companion at all formal meetings under the Grievance Procedure is to support the employee. They are allowed to:
 - address the meeting in order to present the employee's case;
 - · respond on the employee's behalf to any view expressed at the meeting;
 - confer with the employee during the meeting;
 - · ask questions of witnesses; and
 - sum up the employee's case.
- **9.3** However, they are not allowed to:
 - answer questions on behalf of the employee;
 - address the hearing if the employee does not want them to; or
 - prevent the employee from explaining their case.

10. THE INFORMAL STAGE OF THE PROCEDURE

- **10.1** Many workplace problems are easily resolved at a local level and in an informal manner. Employees should feel encouraged to bring their concerns to their Line Manager or the Headteacher without fear of reprisal or censure.
- **10.2** In all but the most serious of grievances, it is strongly encouraged that employees raise a grievance informally first. Raising an informal grievance does not mean that it is not important, rather that an open, honest dialogue may be an easy and appropriate route to solve a concern before it escalates further.
- **10.3** Informal grievances are conducted as discussions between the employee and their Line Manager or the Headteacher. The employee may choose and is encouraged, to invite a Companion to accompany them; however, there is no statutory right for an employee to be accompanied at this meeting. A Companion can be a work colleague, a full time Trade Union Official or an accredited Trade Union Representative.
- **10.4** Where an employee requests a meeting as part of the informal grievance procedure it should be granted within five working days of the request being made.

10.5 The informal meeting

- **10.6** The Line Manager should seek to understand what the employee is concerned about, what outcome the employee is seeking and whether any further meetings are needed.
- **10.7** More than one discussion may be required to achieve a resolution. At the end of the meeting(s), the employee and the Line Manager should agree what actions will be taken to achieve an acceptable outcome, and by when.
- **10.8** If the grievance is related to the behaviour of another employee, the person raising the grievance will be informed if action will be taken but not the nature of the action.
- **10.9** It is good practice for the Line Manager to make notes of this meeting, outlining the issues discussed, and the outcomes from the meeting. The notes must be shared with the employee.
- **10.10** In circumstances where working relationships are breaking down, it may, with mutual agreement, be helpful to seek advice and assistance through mediation during the grievance procedure (**Appendix 2**).
- **10.11** If the employee and the Line Manager have been unable to resolve the grievance, the employee may like to consider raising a formal grievance.

11. THE FORMAL STAGE OF THE PROCEDURE

11.1 If an employee feels that their Line Manager or Headteacher has not been able to resolve their concerns adequately through an informal route, then the employee should raise the grievance formally.

- **11.2** The employee must put down the nature of their concern in writing. To aid this process, the Employee Grievance Form (**Appendix 1**) should be completed in all cases.
- **11.3** The employee must ensure their written grievance covers the following areas:
 - A brief description of the events that took place, including the people involved and the dates and timescales.
 - An account of how the events have made the employee feel.
 - What actions has the employee taken to resolve this grievance so far?
 - What outcome(s) is the employee hoping for?
- **11.4** The employee should keep a copy of their grievance form and they may choose to share it with their Companion.

11.5 The formal meeting

- **11.6** The employee should be invited to attend a grievance meeting at a suitable time and place, ideally within 10 working days of written receipt of the grievance.
- **11.7** The employee has a statutory right to be accompanied by a Companion at this meeting. If the employee or their Companion is unable to attend on this date, a suitable alternative date should be agreed upon, preferably within 5 working days of the original date.
- **11.8** The Grievance Officer leads the meeting; they will give the employee the opportunity to explain their concerns and say how they think the matter can be resolved.
- **11.9** At this meeting, the Grievance Officer may be able to resolve the grievance. If no further investigations are required, the process can move on to paragraph 13.3 in Grievance Outcomes.
- **11.10** More usually, they will need to investigate the grievance, and then meet up again with the employee to discuss the outcomes. An investigation must be initiated if the grievance relates to claims of bullying and/or harassment.
- **11.11** This meeting, and subsequent one, should be conducted with calmness, openness and resolution.
- **11.12** The Grievance Officer will need to keep notes of the meeting, or arrange for a note taker to be present, and share the notes with the employee after the meeting.

12. GRIEVANCE INVESTIGATION

12.1 There are two types of investigation:

i. Simple, fact finding investigation

Following the grievance meeting, the Grievance Officer may need to verify certain facts, request copies of documents etc. This can all be carried out by the Grievance Officer to enable a quick resolution of the grievance.

However, if the grievance is of a more complex nature, and if witnesses need to be interviewed, then it may be necessary to appoint an Investigation Officer, to

investigate the issues raised by the employee. The school's HR Provider can advise on when a full investigation is appropriate.

ii. Full investigation

The Grievance Officer will appoint a suitably independent and senior Investigation Officer to carry out a full investigation. The Investigation Officer must be appointed within 5 days of the grievance being referred for an investigation, and ideally concluded within 3 weeks.

During the investigation, the Investigation Officer will need to interview the employee concerned, plus other employees whose information will have a bearing on the matter. The employee may be accompanied to this meeting by a work colleague or trade union representative.

The aim will be for this process to be carried out confidentially and as swiftly as is practicable.

It is not the duty of the Investigation Officer to make a decision about the employee's grievance. Their role is to ascertain the facts, and then present the facts to the Grievance Officer.

The facts will be presented in writing, and the employee will be sent a copy of the investigation report.

13. GRIEVANCE OUTCOMES

- **13.1** Once the investigation report has been received, the Grievance Officer will need to reconvene the grievance meeting. At this meeting, they may ask further questions which have arisen, before moving on to discuss the outcomes.
- **13.2** At the meeting:
 - The employee may be accompanied by their Companion.
 - The Grievance Officer may choose to invite witnesses, including the Investigation Officer, to the meeting to answer any questions. Both the Grievance Officer and the employee (and their Companion) may ask questions of witnesses.
 - The employee will be asked if they want to call witnesses to the grievance meeting (including the Investigation Officer if not called by the Grievance Officer) to provide information to supplement their witness statement.
 - **13.3** Having heard all the information, the Grievance Officer will adjourn the meeting to consider their response.
 - **13.4** The Grievance Officer must consider each of the employee's points, and make a decision about each one. This will be recorded in the outcome letter.

- **13.5** The possible outcomes following a grievance meeting are as follows:
 - The grievance is upheld in full, or
 - The grievance is rejected, or
 - The grievance is partially upheld i.e. the Grievance Officer agrees with some of the employee's concerns, but not others.

The outcome 'partial uphold' is not to be used where a decision cannot be reached.

- **13.6** In addition to the above, the parties can be referred to Mediation (see **Appendix 2**).
- **13.7** The Grievance Officer will confirm the outcome in writing, within 5 working days of the final meeting. In the letter, the Grievance Officer should set out:
 - The outcome, i.e. if the grievance has been upheld, rejected or partially upheld
 - The reasons for the decision,
 - Any facts which the Grievance Officer has ascertained in coming to their decision,
 - Any recommendations or agreed actions for the parties to take (although the employee does not have the right to know what action will be taken in relation to another employee), and
 - The employee's right to appeal the decision, and if they choose to do so, that this should be within 5 working days of receipt of the written decision.

14. APPEAL MEETING

- **14.1** If an employee wishes to appeal the outcome of a grievance meeting they are entitled to do so within 5 working days of receiving, in writing, the letter following the grievance meeting.
- **14.2** To raise an appeal, the employee must complete the grievance appeal form **(appendix 3)**, explaining why they are dissatisfied with the decision. The appeal letter will be passed to the Clerk to the Governors.
- **14.3** The Clerk to the Governors will acknowledge the appeal request in writing within 5 working days, and will arrange for a meeting to take place within a further 10 working days.
- **14.4** The employee will be sent a copy of the documents that will be considered, 7 working days before the hearing.
- **14.5** The appeal meeting will be heard by three members of the Governing Body. One of the Governors will act as Chairperson of the Meeting. The Clerk to the Governors will also be present to take notes during the meeting, and an Advisor from the School's HR Provider may also be present to advise the Panel.
- **14.6** The Panel will review the paperwork and will invite the Grievance Officer to the meeting, as a witness, to provide information in order to understand the rationale for their decision. (The Grievance Officer will not play any part in the appeal deliberation and decision making process).
- **14.7** The employee may bring a work colleague or trade union representative to the meeting.
- 14.8 The format of this meeting will be similar to the original grievance meeting. The

Chairperson will open the meeting by welcoming the attendees, and making introductions. The Chairperson should also confirm which documents are to be used in the meeting. If there are additional documents to be added, or discrepancies, the meeting will be adjourned to enable the documents to be copied and read.

14.9 At the meeting, the Chairperson will seek to understand:

- The employee's reasons for raising an appeal (they can ask their Companion to assist them with this), and
- Their original concerns (the subject of the grievance)
- **14.10** The employee may invite witnesses to the meeting, having provided prior notice to the Chairperson, who will be asked questions by the employee, and then the Chairperson (and other Panel members, if applicable).
- **14.11** The employee cannot introduce new grounds for raising a grievance.
- **14.12** When the Chairperson has heard all the information in respect of the appeal, and the rationale for the original decision, the Chairperson will invite the employee to sum up their reasons, before adjourning.
- **14.13** During the adjournment, the Chairperson will consider all the information that they have heard and reach a balanced decision. The rationale for their decision must be recorded in the notes. The possible outcomes are:
 - Decision of the grievance meeting fully upheld
 - · Decision from grievance meeting overturned, or
 - Decision from grievance meeting partially upheld.
- **14.14** The employee will then be asked to re-join the meeting, and be given the outcome verbally, which will be confirmed in writing. If the Chairperson/Panel cannot reach a decision on the day, the employee will be told of this, and advised of the outcome of the meeting within 7 calendar days.
- **14.15** If a complaint about bullying and/or harassment is upheld the employee will be informed of this and that action will be taken but, to maintain confidentiality, they will not be informed of what that action will be.
- **14.16** The Chairperson will provide written reasons for their decisions.

14.17 This is the end of the grievance procedure.

15. GENERAL POINTS ABOUT THE GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

15.1 Timescales

It is in all parties' best interests to resolve grievances as quickly as possible. Where specific timescales are given in the policy, they can be altered by mutual agreement.

15.2 A staged approach

The grievance procedure will normally be followed in sequence. There is an expectation that attempts will have been made to resolve a grievance informally, before starting the formal procedure.

However, in the case of more serious grievances, the employee can go straight to the formal stage of the procedure.

15.3 Right to be accompanied

Employees have the right to be accompanied at all stages of the formal procedure and may choose to bring a Companion for support to the informal meeting. The employee's Companion can be a work colleague, a full time Trade Union Official or an accredited Trade Union Representative.

Employees will be asked to put the name of their Companion in writing, and send it to the Grievance Officer (or appeal Chairperson).

15.4 Witnesses

If witnesses are called to attend a grievance meeting, including a Grievance or Investigation Officer, they will be present for the duration of their evidence, and then they will leave the meeting.

15.5 Record keeping

Notes will be made of all formal grievance meetings, and copies given to the employee for information. The responsibility for ensuring that notes are made at grievance meetings lies with the Grievance Officer. The Clerk to the Governors will be responsible for taking notes at appeal meetings, which will be agreed by the appeal Chairperson before being sent to the employee.

The note taker should take no part in the discussions about the outcome of the grievance or appeal, other than to record key points of the discussion.

Records of grievance matters should be treated as confidential and kept securely, and kept in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). If any safeguarding issues have arisen during the grievance, the documentation may need to be passed to the Allegations Manager.

15.6 Overlapping procedures

Where an employee raises a grievance during the disciplinary process, the disciplinary process may be temporarily put on hold, until the outcome of the grievance is known.

However, where the two procedures are about related issues, it may be possible to deal with the two concurrently. Similarly, where another procedural policy applies, such as the sickness or capability procedure, it may be possible to cover the essential elements of both procedures at a combined meeting.

15.7 Employees with disabilities / Employees who are pregnant or on an employee at home on a period of maternity leave

If an employee or their representative requires any reasonable adjustments to be made to enable them to fully participate in the process, the employee should notify their Grievance Officer, or the Clerk to the Governors, as soon as possible. In turn, this person can seek advice from the School's HR Provider on how best to meet the requirements of the employee or their Companion. At all times the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 should be considered.

Where it is established that a pregnant employee or an employee at home on a period of maternity leave is to be involved in the grievance procedure a pregnancy risk assessment should be undertaken to ensure reasonable adjustments are identified (if required) to enable them to fully participate in the process. The Grievance Officer can seek advice from the Schools HR Provider on how best to meet the requirements of the employee or their Companion. At all times the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 should be considered.

15.8 Grievances raised by more than one employee (collective grievances)

From time to time, a number of employees may raise the same issue as a grievance. When this happens, the intention is to deal with the matter as a single grievance by joining together the individual submission.

The process for grievances raised by multiple employees mirrors that for individual employees. All of the stages should be followed, including the informal stage, which can be used effectively in grievances raised by more than one employee. It may be possible for each employee to speak at the grievance meeting, or it may be more practical for the employees to appoint a spokesperson.

Similarly, employees may find it more practical to select one person to act as their Companion, or Representative, at meetings.

In grievances raised by multiple employees, and depending on their complexity, it is to be expected that the timescales may be longer than for individual grievances. All the parties should agree the revised timescales at the beginning of the procedure, and a commitment made to adhere to them.

In resolving multiple grievances, particular consideration should be given to options such as Mediation (see **Appendix 2**).

15.9 Grievance procedure for former employees

Occasionally an individual may feel the need to raise a grievance once their employment has come to an end. The details of the grievance must be put in writing, and should be sent to the employee's former Headteacher.

In most circumstances, the grievance will only be heard if the grievance is submitted within 4 months of the employee leaving the organisation.

15.9.1 Grievance meeting

Within 5 working days of receiving the grievance in writing, the Headteacher will investigate the grievance and Chair a grievance meeting, to which the former employee will be invited.

If the former employee agrees, the grievance can be investigated and considered without a meeting.

The process at the grievance meeting, including the role of the Companion, will mirror the process for current employees.

The Headteacher may need to call on other parties for evidence, but will endeavour to progress the grievance in a timely and efficient manner. A written decision will be provided to the individual within 10 working days of the last meeting.

The former employee must be given the right of appeal (in accordance with the appeals procedure) and any appeal hearing will mirror the process for current employees.

15.10 General points

Employees providing information at grievance meetings should be aware that this information might be used in other formal procedures, such as in a disciplinary meeting, if relevant.

Malicious grievances will be treated as a disciplinary offence.

EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE FORM

This form is intended for use by an employee who wants to make a formal complaint about the behaviour of a colleague, his/her manager or a third party, or any other workplace issue.

This form should be completed and delivered to your line manager (or next senior manager or Chair of Governor if the grievance relates to your line manager) in an envelope marked 'Confidential' or sent as an email attachment with 'Confidential' in the subject line.

EMPLOYEE DETAILS					
Surname:		Forename(s):			
NI No.:		Job Title:			
School:				Date:	//
	GRIE	ANCE DETAILS			
Does your	grievance relate to your line m	anager?	YE	s	NO
Date of las	t incident grievance relates to:				//
Date of last incident grievance relates to: /					

Individuals involved

Please provide the names and contact details of any witnesses who you believe can support your case.

Details:

EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE FORM (CONTINUED)

GRIEVANCE DETAILS (CONTINUED)		
Outcome/resolution sought Please set out the outcome you are seeking and how you believe this will resolve the issue. This information is vital for the grievance procedure to work.		
Details:		
Are you being supported by a work colleague, a full time Union Official or an accredited Trade Union Representa		
If yes, please provide their name:		

Please submit your completed form to your Line Manager, or the next senior level of management if the grievance involves this person.

MEDIATION AND CONCILLIATION

- 1. Sometimes a grievance can be addressed informally by mediation between the parties. Successful mediation requires the genuine co-operation of both parties and can only be done if both parties agree to mediation. Either party can request mediation.
- 2. The purpose of mediation is to manage the process of bringing two parties together and to reach mutual agreement. The mediator should be someone who is impartial and trusted by all concerned, should ideally be distanced from the work situation and be trained in conflict resolution.
- 3 If both parties agree to mediation the initial meetings will be arranged normally within 7 working days after the initial request or if this is not possible, both parties will be informed of the timescales.
- 4 Ideally the mediator should meet separately with each party and then bring them together in a neutral location to reach a positive solution acceptable to both parties. However, the format of the meetings will depend on the situation and personalities involved. Sometimes several mediation sessions may be required.
- 5 Meetings will be non-threatening, non-judgemental and non-confrontational and allow each party to discuss their perception of events and have their say. The ultimate aim of the meeting should be to develop an action plan to make clear required behaviours for future relationships.
- 6 If mediation between the parties is not successful, the grievance will revert back to the relevant place in the procedure. The Grievance Officer and/or Appeal Chairperson will be informed of the outcome of the mediation.
- 7 If as a result of the outcome of the grievance process a claim is made to an Employment Tribunal it is a legal requirement, unless an exemption applies, for tribunal claims lodged on or after 6th May 2014 for a claimant to have made an Early Conciliation notification to Acas. Tribunal claims will not be accepted unless the complaint has been referred to Acas and a conciliation certificate issued. This certificate confirms that the Early Conciliation requirements have been met.

Schools should contact their HR Provider and Legal Insurers for further advice should an Employment Tribunal claim be lodged by an employee.

APPENDIX 3

EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE APPEAL FORM

This form is intended for use by an employee of the Council who wants to appeal against the outcome of a formal grievance investigation/hearing.

This form should be completed and delivered to the Grievance Officer in an envelope marked 'Confidential' or sent as an email attachment with 'Confidential' in the subject line.

Please attach a copy of the original grievance together with the management response to the grievance.

EMPLOYEE DETAILS			
Surname:		Forename(s):	
NI No.:		Job Title:	
School:			Date:/
	GRIEV	NCE APPEAL DETAI	LS
Date of grie	evance investigation or hea	ring:	//
Nature of the Please expl address the	ain the reasons why, in your	riew, the management r	esponse does not adequately
Details:			
	esolution sought out the outcome you are seek	ing and how you believe	a this will resolve the issue
	out the outcome you are seek	ing and now you believe	
Details:			
Are you being supported by a work colleague, a full time Trade Union Official or an accredited Trade Union Representative?			
If yes, please provide their name:			
L			

Please submit your completed form to your Line Manager, or the next senior level of Management if the grievance involves this person.

LETTER 1 - ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF WRITTEN GRIEVANCE

Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Address 4 Postcode Your ref:ABC EFGOur ref:ABC EFGDate:DD/MM/YYYY

Dear

Acknowledgment of written grievance

Further to our recent informal meeting, I write to confirm receipt of your written grievance which was received on [date]. In accordance with Central Bedfordshire Council's Grievance Procedure, I would like to invite you to attend a meeting [on, at, place], to discuss the issues you have raised:

• Insert grievance allegations

If you are unable to attend, please contact me without delay, to propose an alternative time and/or date. In accordance with the procedure I have asked a member of our HR Provider's team to join us at the meeting to assist with any HR issues.

You have the right to be accompanied at the meeting by a trade union representative or work colleague of your choice. It is your responsibility to arrange the attendance of your representative, but it would be of help to me if you would let me know before the meeting who your representative will be.

Yours sincerely

Name Job Title (of Line Manager e.g. Headteacher)

Direct telephone: add number Email: add email address

			APPENDIX
_	Your ref:	ABC EFG ABC EFG	5
LETTER 2 GRIEVANCE MEETING OUTCOME			5
Name			
Address 1 Address 2	Our ref:		
Address 2 Address 3	Date:	DD/MM/YYYY	,
Address 4			

Postcode

Dear

Letter to Confirm the Outcome of Grievance Meeting – Stage 2

I write to confirm the outcome of the formal Grievance Meeting held on [date]. The meeting was held to enable a response to the grievance(s) you raised in your letter of [date]. You attended the meeting [but was not represented] [and was represented by]

I chaired the meeting and [insert name, HR] was in attendance. We interviewed [insert details of anyone interviewed] as part of our investigations.

Where further investigation is needed insert the following paragraph:

[It was agreed that the deadlines will be extended in order to allow for further investigation and that the meeting would be re-convened on [date, time, place].]

Where further investigation is <u>not</u> needed insert the following paragraph:

[My findings are outlined below and I will deal with the issues in the order they were raised at the grievance meeting.]

[Provide details of the issues]

Where an allegation is upheld insert the following:

Your grievance has been upheld and the following action has been agreed:

[Provide details of the action to be taken]

I trust this has resolved the grievance to your satisfaction. However, if you are dissatisfied with the outcome of the grievance you have the right to appeal. This must be in writing to [the next senior

6

Your ref: ABC EFG

ABC EFG

manager] [insert name] with 5 working days of receipt of this letter, specifying why you are not happy with the outcome and your suggested remedies for resolving the grievance.

Yours sincerely

Name Job Title (of Line Manager e.g. Headteacher)

Direct telephone: add number Email: add email address

LETTER 3 INVITE TO GRIEVANCE APPEAL HEARING

Name		
Address 1	Our ref:	
Address 2		
Address 3	Date:	DD/MM/YYYY
Address 4 Postcode		

Dear

Invite to Grievance Appeal Hearing – Stage 3

I am writing to acknowledge receipt of your written appeal, which was received on [date].

An appeal hearing has been arranged on [day, date and time {*this should be within 10 working days of receipt of the written appeal request*}] at [venue]. If you are unable to attend please contact me without delay to propose an alternative date.

In accordance with Central Bedfordshire's grievance procedure [insert manager's name], the manager who made the decision in regard to your grievance and any witnesses that were called, will be in attendance at this meeting. [*Insert if required:* As there was an investigation, the investigating officer will also be in attendance].

		APPENDIX
_		
	Your ref:	ABC EFG
You have the right to be accompanied at the colleague of your choice. It is your responsibut it would be of help to me if you would let will be.	ility to arrange the atter	ndance of your representative,
Yours sincerely		
Name Job Title (of Line Manager e.g. Headteacher Direct telephone: add number Email: add email address LETTER 4 APPEAL MEETING OUTCOME)	7
Name Address 1 Address 2	Our ref:	
Address 3	Date:	DD/MM/YYYY
Address 4 Postcode		
Dear		
Letter to Confirm the Outcome of Grievan	ce Appeal Hearing – S	Stage 3

Following the grievance appeal hearing which took place on [date], I am writing to advise you of the outcome concerning your appeal against the decision from the first formal meeting.

Where an appeal is not upheld, insert the following:

Your appeal was not upheld for the following reasons:

[Insert reasons] ٠

APPENDI)	(
----------	---

Your ref:	ABC EFG
	ABC EFG

Where an appeal is upheld, insert the following

Your grievance has been upheld and the following action has been agreed:

• [Insert actions to be taken]

In accordance with Central Bedfordshire Council's grievance procedure, this decision is final and your grievance is concluded at this stage.

Yours sincerely

Name

Job Title (of Line Manager e.g. Headteacher)

Direct telephone: add number Email: add email address